ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE

RESPONDENT,

v.

VICTORIA LORRAINE SANCHEZ

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-002163

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ADAM SINCLAIR RUFFIN
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED
MAR 26 2020
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the Court erred in denying Appellant's motion to suppress the drugs found in her vehicle when the officer engaged in broad, off-topic questioning to unreasonably prolong the traffic stop beyond its original scope, withheld giving Appellant the warning tickets, then requested consent to search without reasonable suspicion that Appellant was engaged in criminal activity, and then exceeded the scope of consent since this constituted an illegal search and seizure under the totality of the circumstances, and violated Appellant's right to privacy under the South Carolina Constitution?

2.

Whether the Court erred in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict since there was no substantial circumstantial evidence presented that Appellant knew there were drugs in the vehicle?

3.

Whether the Court erred in refusing to charge the jury the State v. Logan circumstantial evidence instruction when the state relied exclusively on circumstantial evidence to attempt to prove the element of knowledge of the drugs since the Supreme Court held this instruction should be given when requested by a defendant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Greenville County grand jury for trafficking more than 28 grams of heroin and unlawful conduct towards a child. R. 235-238. Appellant's jury trial was held before the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin from December 4, 2018 through December 5, 2018.

R. 1. Appellant was represented by Michael Martinez and Stuart Sarratt and the state was represented by Katrina Owens. R. 1.

The jury found Appellant guilty of both counts and the Court sentenced her to thirty-two years imprisonment on the drug trafficking and concurrent ten years imprisonment on the unlawful conduct charge.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The Court erred in denying Appellant's motion to suppress the drugs found in her vehicle because the officer engaged in broad off-topic questioning to unreasonably prolong the traffic stop beyond its original scope, withheld giving Appellant the warning tickets, then requested consent to search without reasonable suspicion that Appellant was engaged in criminal activity, and then exceeded the scope of consent since this constituted an illegal search and seizure under the totality of the circumstances and violated Appellant's right to privacy under the South Carolina Constitution.

Standard of Review

An appeal of a trial court's ruling on a motion to suppress evidence based on Fourth Amendment grounds is reviewed for clear error only. State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (2010). The appellate courts must affirm if there is any evidence to support the decision of the trial judge. State v. Provet, 405 S.C. 101, 107, 747 S.E.2d 453, 456 (2013). "However, this deference does not bar this Court from conducting its own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge's decision is supported by the evidence." Tindall, 388 S.C. at 521, 698 S.E.2d at 205 citing State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 70, 572 S.E.2d 456, 459 (2002).

Relevant Facts

On June 28, 2017, Greenville County Sheriff's Office received a tip from the Department of Homeland Security that a silver Kia left a suspected drug location in Atlanta, Georgia and was driving North on I-85 towards Greenville. R. 9, l. 22 – 10, l. 7. The tip did not include any information about the identity of the driver or whether there was anything illegal in the car. R.

18, ll. 18 – 22. Homeland Security asked Greenville Sheriff's Office if they could "intercept" the car. R. 33, l. 23 – 34, l. 2. The plan of the Greenville County deputies was to keep an eye out for this car and stop the car "if [they] can find a reason." R. 18, l. 23 – 19, l. 2. Deputy David Harrison ("Harrison") with the Greenville County Sheriff's Office referred to their attempting to initiate a traffic stop as "just a poke and a hope." R. 34, ll. 4 – 5.

Deputy Andrew Reese ("Reese") with the Greenville County Sheriff's Office initiated a traffic stop on this silver Kia for allegedly crossing over the dotted line and traveling too close behind a tractor trailer. R. 9, ll. 4 – 21. Reese approached the passenger side of the vehicle to obtain basic information like license, registration and insurance. R. 10, ll. 13 – 20; State's Ex. 9 at 1:00-1:13 (Dash cam video on file with this Court). Appellant, who was the driver of the silver Kia, provided Reese with a Texas identification card, vehicle registration and proof of insurance. R. 10, ll. 21 – 25. The registration and insurance were in two different people's names. R. 10, ll. 21 – 25. Reese noticed that Appellant also had her minor child in the back seat of the vehicle. R. 13, ll. 10 – 16; State's Ex. 9 at 1:55.

Appellant informed Reese that she was heading to New Jersey. R. 13, ll. 4 – 9; State's Ex. 9 at 1:42 – 1:45. She also informed him that she recently purchased the vehicle and provided him with a bill of sale. R. 11, ll. 4 – 7. Reese claimed that he noticed some "indicators of criminal behavior" to include that Appellant was drinking Red Bull, was in possession of two cell phones¹ and that the vehicle key was the only key on her keychain. R. 11, l. 8 – 42, l. 2. Reese informed Appellant that it was "not a big deal" that she did not have a driver's license but

¹ Although Reese testified during the suppression hearing that one of the reasons he was suspicious of Appellant was the fact that she had two cell phones, it appears from the dash cam video that Reese does not actually discover this until well into the search. State's Ex. 9 at 23:00 – 24:00. The video was reviewed by the Court and on it, Reese can be heard stating "flip phone" while searching through the driver's seat area of the vehicle. State's Ex. 9 at 23:40.

still asked her to step out of the vehicle and leave her child in the car on the side of the interstate while he ran her information.. State's Ex. 9 at 3:23 – 3:43.

Reese then engaged in very broad, off-topic questioning of Appellant to include her educational background, her personal background, her place of employment, her romantic life and her children. State's Ex. 9 at 3:50 – 12:00. While Appellant was standing outside the passenger side door of Reese's patrol car, he began questioning her about where she was from. State's Ex. 9 at 4:00. Appellant informed Reese that she was from Laredo, Texas and had flown to Georgia to visit her cousin. State's Ex. 9 at 4:00 – 5:05. While she was there, she purchased the vehicle that she was currently driving. State's Ex. 9 at 4:00.

Reese asked Appellant how much she paid for the car, what she was going to be doing in New Jersey and he also asked about her employment history. State's Ex. 9 at 4:00 – 5:00. When Reese asked Appellant if she had been saving money so she could take time off work she informed him that her family in New Jersey "has money." State's Ex. 9 at 5:45. Reese continued his off-topic questioning by asking Appellant where her other children were, how long she had been dating her boyfriend, why "he ain't [sic] put a ring on [her] finger yet" and if she was "not pushing him to." State's Ex. 9 at 6:25 – 6:40. Reese also asked Appellant what her boyfriend did for work. State's Ex. 9 at 6:40.

At this point, Reese asked Appellant if there were drugs in the car. State's Ex. 9 at 6:55. Reese specifically asked if there was any "marijuana, methamphetamine, crack-cocaine, ecstasy, [or] large amounts of drug tainted US currency." State's Ex. 9 at 7:00. Appellant said "no" to all of them. State's Ex. 9 at 7:00. Reese then began to question Appellant about her ethnicity and whether she ever lived in Mexico or if she had any family that lived in Mexico. State's Ex. 9 at 7:00 – 7:45. Reese asked Appellant if she went to college, how she learned to cook and what

she did with the food she cooked while she was in culinary school. State's Ex. 9 at 8:00 – 9:00. Reese went back to asking Appellant about her employment history and also asked about the size of her hometown, Laredo, Texas. State's Ex. 9 at 9:30 – 10:20.

Throughout Reese's questioning of Appellant, she remained calm, answered his questions and denied illegal activity. R. 25, ll. 2 – 19; State's Ex. 9 at 3:50 – 12:00. She did not appear to be nervous and did not exhibit nervous behaviors like sweating or shaking. R. 25, ll. 2 – 19.

After conducting his computer checks on Appellant and the vehicle, Reese made the decision to issue Appellant warning tickets. R. 13, l. 17 – 14, l. 4. He "explained the warning to her . . . to make sure . . . she understood what she did wrong." R. 13, ll. 21 – 23. Appellant indicated that she understood the warnings and did not have any questions. State's Ex. 9 at 12:00. However, before Reese handed her the warning tickets, he asked Appellant for permission to search the car. State's Ex. 9 at 12:10. Appellant responded "sure." Reese then asked Appellant to pull her three-year-old daughter out of the car while 18-wheeler trucks were driving by and stand on the side of the interstate while he began to look through their personal belongings. State's Ex. 9 at 12:10 – 12:40.

Reese told Appellant to stand with another officer, Deputy Wasserman, while he began to search the vehicle. R. 27, ll. 16 – 18; State's Ex. 9 at 12:50. Reese looked through the interior of the car including through Appellant's purse and her luggage in the trunk. R. 28, ll. 9 – 19. Appellant's purse and luggage both contained personal items. R. 28, ll. 20 – 22. When Harrison arrived, Reese was searching through the trunk of the car. R. 35, ll. 11 – 15. Harrison claimed that he believed the vehicle might contain a hidden compartment because it was a newly purchased car that had registration and insurance in two different people's names, that the vehicle was heading from Atlanta to New Jersey, both known drug source areas, and that there

was nothing fancy or flashy about the vehicle to draw attention from law enforcement. R. 36, ll. 2 – 24.

Over three minutes into the search, Reese started taking Appellant and her child's luggage out of the trunk and putting it down on the side of the interstate. State's Ex. 9 at 16:35. After five minutes of searching inside the vehicle, including rummaging through Appellant and her three-year-old daughter's luggage, Harrison began looking underneath the vehicle. State's Ex. 9 at 18:50. Harrison claimed that he could tell that the fuel tank appeared to have been lowered and the bolts holding it in were elongated and freshly painted. R. 38, l. 5 – 10. At that point Harrison pulled the three-year-old girl's car seat out of the back and put it on the ground on the side of the interstate. State's Ex. 9 at 20:25. For the next several minutes the officers tried to figure out a way to gain access to the supposed hidden compartment they believed to be under the back seat. State's Ex. 9 at 20:30 – 28:00.

In trying to gain access to what the officers believed to be a hidden compartment, Reese pulled the rear seat cushion out of the car and threw it on the ground. State's Ex. 9 at 24:45. Harrison then retrieved his crow bar which he referred to as his "'master key' because we do have to break into a lot of these compartments." R. 39, ll. 16 – 21. Harrison brought the crow bar with him to the back seat of the car to try to pry open the compartment. State's Ex. 9 at 27:40. Harrison then stated:

I went to pry the lid up or see if I [could] pry it up, and one of the screws . . . had been sawed off and then glued to the lid to make it look like the screws were still being used. . . . [T]hey had taken a trunk lock, which is what would hold your trunk lid down for your car, and they had welded it inside of the compartment and then welded a small hook to the factory fuel pump cover. And that was the access door for the compartment. When I went to go pry it, it was loose. I turned it. Picked it up.

R. 40, ll. 1 – 11. Inside the compartment were several Ziploc bags that had rectangular packages inside them. R. 16, ll. 9 – 15. After opening the packages, they revealed a brown powder substance which ultimately was confirmed to be heroin. R. 16, ll. 13 – 15; R. 165, ll. 21 – 25.

Motion to Suppress

Defense counsel made a pre-trial motion to suppress the drugs found in the silver Kia. R. 5, l. 11 – 7, l. 9. During the suppression hearing the state called Andrew Reese and David Harrison. R. 7, l. 11 – 44, l. 25. Their testimony, along with the dash cam video of the traffic stop and subsequent search of the vehicle established the above referenced facts. See State's Ex. 9; R. 7, l. 11 – 44, l. 25.

At the conclusion of the testimony defense counsel moved to suppress the drugs found during the search. Counsel argued that Reese unreasonably prolonged the traffic stop in violation of Rodriguez v. United States, 135 S.Ct. 1609 (2015), by engaging in broad off-topic questioning. R. 47, l. 18 – 50, l. 6. Counsel argued that this off-topic questioning into Appellant's education, place of origin, romantic life, employment history and the whereabouts of her children all unreasonably extended the duration of the stop. R. 47, l. 18 – 50, l. 6. Counsel further argued that Reese did not have reasonable suspicion to continue detaining her. R. 49, ll. 16 – 22. Specifically, defense counsel argued that Appellant had luggage in her car with personal items for her trip, she had documentation that supported her purchase of the car from the day before and she had a clear itinerary of traveling to New Jersey to see family. R. 49, ll. 5 – 15.

The assistant solicitor responded by arguing that Reese's off-topic questioning did not extend the duration of the stop because the whole time he was questioning Appellant he was typing on his computer filling out his paperwork. R. 50, l. 9 – 51, l. 9. The solicitor argued that

as soon as Reese finished the warning tickets, he explained them to Appellant and gave them to her. R. 51, ll. 9 – 11. The solicitor further argued that Reese did have reasonable suspicion to request Appellant's consent to search because she had Red Bull cans, no driver's license and that the registration and insurance were in different people's names. R. 52, ll. 1 – 9. The solicitor also argued that reasonable suspicion was supported by the fact that the bill of sale Appellant gave to Reese indicated a purchase price of \$10,000 but Appellant said she had only paid \$4,000 so far. R. 52, ll. 10 – 20.

The Court ruled that the stop was not unreasonably prolonged by the off-topic questioning and that Reese did have reasonable suspicion based on the "Red Bull can; no driver's license is a very big one; the third-party insurance; and unclear ownership of the car." R. 53, ll. 12 – 24. Defense counsel pointed out that Appellant had not received the title to the car yet because she had only paid \$4,000 of the \$10,000 purchase price. R. 54, ll. 6 – 12.

Counsel then argued that in addition to the off-topic questioning, Reese also seized Appellant anew by withholding the warning tickets from Appellant and asking for consent to search her car without reasonable suspicion. R. 54, l. 21 – 55, l. 8. Counsel argued that a roadside consent request is different from a field interview because there has already been a seizure and therefore a reasonable person would not feel free to leave. R. 55, ll. 5 – 14. Counsel argued that Appellant had already been stopped and pulled out of her car and questioned for nearly ten minutes about unrelated topics; there were two uniformed, armed police officers present; she was not told that she was free to leave and the transition from the stop to the request for consent to search happened so quickly that she would not have realized the initial seizure had ended. R. 55, ll. 14 – 25. Counsel again argued that there was no reasonable suspicion because Appellant was not nervous or shaking and she answered Reese's questions calmly. R. 56, ll. 1 –

7. Therefore, Appellant's consent was obtained as an exploitation of the initial seizure. R. 56, ll. 11 – 12.

The Court ruled that there was enough reasonable suspicion to request consent to search and that the stop was not extended. R. 57, ll. 18 – 22. The Court also ruled that Appellant's consent was not coerced and was given voluntarily. R. 57, ll. 18 – 22.

Defense counsel also argued that the officers exceeded the scope of consent. R. 57, ll. 23 – 24. Counsel argued that the South Carolina Constitution's express right to privacy prevents officers from having carte blanche to search wherever they want even when an individual does not specifically limit the scope of consent. R. 57, l. 24 – 58, l. 5. Counsel cited to Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248 (1991) and State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 541 S.E.2d 837 (2001) in support of this position. Counsel argued that the search performed by Reese and Harrison far exceeded what a reasonable person would have believed the request to search entailed because parts of the vehicle were removed. R. 58, ll. 11 – 25.

The Court ruled that consent was voluntarily given by Appellant, she was present for the search and that she never objected or attempted to limit the scope of the officers' search at any point. R. 59, ll. 1 – 8. The trial judge cited to State v. Funderburk,² stating that "that case is practically on all fours with this factual scenario" and that the scope of consent was not exceeded. R. 59, ll. 4 – 11. The trial judge then denied Appellant's motion to suppress. R. 59, ll. 15 - 17.

² 367 S.C. 236, 625 S.E.2d 248 (2006). Although the transcript reads "State v. Funderburg," it appears from the context of the trial judge's comments and her reference to Judge Miller that this is a scrivener's error and the actual case she was referring to was State v. Funderburk.

Jury Trial

Reese and Harrison both testified in front of the jury as to their involvement in the search of the silver Kia. R. 72, l. 17 – 99, l. 16; R. 103, l. 1 – 123, l. 22; R. 89, l. 17 – 106, l. 12. At trial, Harrison testified that in order to have installed the hidden compartment a person would have had to remove the fuel tank from underneath the car, then the person would have had to weld the compartment to the underside of the car's frame and then reinstall the fuel tank using extended screws and bolts to hold it in. R. 139, l. 11 – 141, l. 5.

The state also admitted the video of the dash cam showing the traffic stop and search of the car, State's Ex. 9. R. 110, ll. 2 – 11. The state moved to introduce the drugs found in the vehicle, State's Ex. 7 and 8 and defense counsel renewed his objection. R. 166, ll. 8 – 16. The Court admitted the evidence over counsel's objection. R. 166, ll. 17 – 18.

Discussion

“The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures.” State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 643, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001). When evidence against a criminal defendant is obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment it cannot be used against him in court. Weeks v. United States, 232 U.S. 383 (1914). The Supreme Court of the United States made this exclusionary rule applicable to the States in Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643 (1961). “Therefore, all citizens enjoy this federal constitutional protection in every criminal proceeding.” Forrester, 343 S.C. at 643, 541 S.E.2d at 840.

The South Carolina Constitution also contains a provision protecting people from unreasonable searches and seizures. S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. However, our State Constitution goes further than the U.S. Constitution by including an express right of the people against “unreasonable invasions of privacy.” Id. “Thus, this Court can interpret the state protection

against unreasonable searches and seizures in such a way as to provide greater protection than the federal Constitution.” Forrester, 343 S.C. at 644, 541 S.E.2d at 840.

A. The Court erred in denying Appellant’s motion to suppress because Reese engaged in broad off-topic questioning and withheld the warning tickets which unreasonably prolonged the traffic stop beyond its scope in violation of Rodriguez v. United States.

A traffic stop is a seizure under the Fourth Amendment and must be reasonable under the circumstances. Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806 (1996). In general, a traffic stop is reasonable if it is supported by probable cause that a traffic violation has occurred. Id. During a traffic stop, police officers are permitted to request typical documents associated with the stop like driver’s license, vehicle registration and proof of insurance. United States v. Sullivan, 138 F.3d 126, 131 (4th Cir.1998). They also may run a computer check and issue a citation. Id. However, “when the purpose justifying the stop is exceeded, the detention becomes illegal unless a reasonable suspicion of some other crime exists.” Id.

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