ALAN WILSON
ATTORNEY GENERAL

February 5, 2020

RECEIVED
FEB 05 2020
SC Court of Appeals

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

S.E.2d 32, 35 (Ct. App. 2003) (recognizing the trial judge is “required” to submit a case to the jury when substantial evidence is presented reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused or from which the accused’s guilt may be fairly and logically deduced), overruled on other grounds by State v. Broadnax, 414 S.C. 468, 779 S.E.2d 789 (2015); cf. Ascolani-Gonzalez, 449 F.2d at 159-160 (finding sufficient evidence existed to support the defendant’s convictions for drug offenses based on the presentation of evidence establishing the defendant was apprehended driving a vehicle containing a large stash of marijuana that had been concealed in a hidden compartment). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

III.

Even assuming the trial judge erred by declining to instruct the jury on circumstantial evidence in one of the manners proposed by defense counsel, any conceivable error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the trial judge's jury instructions as presented were sufficient to adequately and properly convey the applicable law to the jury, including the law regarding the fact Appellant could not be convicted unless the evidence—regardless of whether it was direct or circumstantial—proved her guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

Appellant contends the trial judge reversibly erred by declining to instruct the jury on one of the circumstantial evidence jury instructions requested by defense counsel. As support for that contention, Appellant maintains our Supreme Court mandated in State v. Logan, 405 S.C. 83, 747 S.E.2d 444 (2013), the instruction requested by defense counsel be given and further maintains the trial judge's refusal to give that particular instruction was not harmless due to the fact the State relied exclusively on circumstantial evidence when proving part of its case. Significantly, even without the presentation of the jury instruction requested by defense counsel, the trial judge's jury instruction, when considered as a whole, were substantially correct and sufficient to adequately cover the applicable law to the jury and ensure the jury understood Appellant could not be convicted unless her guilt had been established by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt. Under such circumstances, any possible error committed by the trial judge in instructing the jury on the applicable law was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and could not have resulted in any actual prejudice to Appellant. Thus, reversal of Appellant's convictions is simply not warranted on appeal. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

Relevant Facts

During the course of Appellant's trial, the trial judge asked the parties if they wished to discuss potential jury instructions outside the presence of the jury. (Tr. pp. 177-178). In response, defense counsel proposed the trial judge present the "old" circumstantial evidence jury

instruction from State v. Edwards, 298 S.C. 272, 379 S.E.2d 888 (1989). (Tr. p. 178).

Specifically, defense counsel asked the trial judge to instruct the jury:

“The jury may not convict unless every circumstance relied upon by the state is proven beyond a reasonable doubt and all the circumstances so proven are consistent with each other and, when taken together, point conclusively to the guilt of the accused to the exclusion of every other reasonable hypothesis. It is not sufficient that they create a probability, though a strong one and if, assuming the[m] to be true, they may be accounted for upon any reasonable hypothesis which does not include the guilt of the accused, the proof has failed.”

(Tr. pp. 178-179). However, the trial judge declined defense counsel’s request and indicated she intended to present her own circumstantial evidence charge, which she stated “encapsulate[d] the spirit” of the proposed charge. (Tr. p. 179).

Thereafter, following a recess, defense counsel informed the trial judge he understood her earlier ruling but proposed she present an alternative circumstantial evidence charge containing language from the decision in State v. Logan, 405 S.C. 83, 747 S.E.2d 444 (2013). (Tr. pp. 184-185). Through that proposal, defense counsel requested a jury instruction stating:

1. There are two types of evidence which are generally presented during a trial—direct evidence and circumstantial evidence. Direct evidence directly proves the existence of a fact and does not require deduction. Circumstantial evidence is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances indicating the existence of a fact.
2. Crimes may be proven by circumstantial evidence. The law makes no distinction between the weight or value to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence, however, to the extent the State relies on circumstantial evidence, all of the circumstances must be consistent with each other, and when taken together, point conclusively to the guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt. If these circumstances merely portray the defendant’s behavior as suspicious, the proof has failed.

3. The State has the burden of proving the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. This burden rests with the State regardless of whether the State relies on direct evidence, circumstantial evidence, or some combination of the two.

(Court's Ex. # 1 (Proposed Jury Instruction)). Once again though, the trial judge denied defense counsel's request. (Tr. p. 186).

Subsequently, the trial judge charged the jury on the applicable law. (Tr. pp. 245-261). In doing so, the trial judge instructed the jurors their ultimate goal and duty was to determine whether the State met its burden of proof, explained the burden of proof was solely on the State and not on the defendant, thoroughly discussed both the reasonable doubt standard and the fact Appellant was presumed to be innocent, and advised the jurors their verdict must be a unanimous one.¹² (Tr. pp. 246-251; p. 260). Additionally, the trial judge instructed the jurors on the indicted offenses and specifically advised them mere presence was not sufficient to prove possession of drugs. (Tr. p. 256-258). Furthermore, regarding circumstantial evidence, the trial judge instructed:

There are two types of evidence which are generally presented during a trial: direct evidence and circumstantial evidence. Direct evidence is the testimony of a person who claims to have actual knowledge of a fact, such as an eyewitness. It is evidence which immediately establishes the main fact to be proved.

¹² Specifically, in discussing reasonable doubt, the trial judge explained: "Proof beyond a reasonable doubt is proof that leaves you firmly convinced of the defendant's guilt. There are very few things in this world that we know with absolute certainty. And in criminal cases, the law does not require proof that overcomes every possible doubt. If, based on your consideration of the evidence, you are firmly convinced that the defendant is guilty of the crimes charged, then you must find the defendant guilty. If, on the other hand, you think there is a real possibility that the defendant is not guilty, you must give the defendant the benefit of the doubt and find her not guilty. Facts and circumstances that merely place upon the defendant a grave suspicion of the crime charged or that merely raise a speculation or conjecture of the defendant's guilt are not sufficient to authorize a conviction of the accused." (Tr. p. 251).

Circumstantial evidence is proof of the chain of facts and circumstances indicating the existence of a fact. It is evidence which immediately establishes collateral facts from which the main fact may be inferred. Circumstantial evidence is based on inference and not on personal knowledge or observation.

The law makes absolutely no distinction between the weight or value to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence. Nor is a greater degree of certainty required of circumstantial evidence than of direct evidence. You should weigh all of the evidence in the case. After weighing all the evidence, if you are not convinced of the guilt of the defendant beyond a reasonable doubt, you must find the defendant not guilty.

(Tr. p. 252).

Following the presentation of those instructions, defense counsel unsuccessfully renewed his “prior objection” without further comment. (Tr. p. 261). Thereafter, the case was submitted to the jury, and the jury ultimately convicted Appellant as indicted. (Tr. p. 263; p. 265).

Standard of Review

On appeal, an appellate court reviewing a trial judge’s jury charge must view the charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues from trial. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 178, 682 S.E.2d 19, 36 (Ct. App. 2009); see Todd v. State, 355 S.C. 396, 402, 585 S.E.2d 305, 308 (2003) (“[J]ury charges should be examined in their entirety and not in isolation in analyzing whether the defendant’s due process rights have been violated.”). When reviewing a jury charge, the appropriate test involves determining what a reasonable juror would have understood the charge to mean. Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 664, 594 S.E.2d 462, 474 (2004). So long as the jury instructions presented are substantially correct and cover the applicable law, reversal is not warranted. See State v. Ezell, 321 S.C. 421, 425, 468 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1996) (“A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal.”); see also State v. Rye, 375 S.C. 119, 123, 651 S.E.2d 321, 323 (2007) (“A trial court’s decision regarding

jury charges will not be reversed where the charges, as a whole, properly charged the law to be applied.”). Moreover, an appellate court will only reverse a trial judge’s decision regarding jury instructions when that decision constitutes an abuse of discretion resulting in actual prejudice. See Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000) (“An appellate court will not reverse the trial court’s decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion.”); Rauch v. Zayas, 284 S.C. 594, 597, 327 S.E.2d 377, 378 (Ct. App. 1985) (“[A]n alleged error in a portion of the charge *must be prejudicial* to the appellant to warrant a new trial.” (emphasis added)).

Analysis

The purpose of a trial judge’s jury instructions is “to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict.” State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987). To carry out that purpose, a trial judge is required to charge the jury on the current and correct South Carolina law applicable to the case based on the evidence presented. State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 231, 589 S.E.2d 1, 2 (2003); see State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011) (explaining a trial judge is required to instruct the jury on sound principles of law that are applicable to the case based on the evidence presented). In doing so, the trial judge is only required to instruct the jury on the substance of the law and does *not* have to use any particular verbiage. State v. Burkhardt, 350 S.C. 252, 261, 565 S.E.2d 298, 302 (2002). Importantly, so long as the trial judge’s jury instructions are substantially correct and adequately cover the applicable law, those instructions are considered to be appropriate and not erroneous. State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 16, 479 S.E.2d 50, 52 (1996); see State v. Adkins, 353 S.C. 312, 318, 577 S.E.2d 460, 464 (Ct. App. 2003) (“A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.”).

As far as jury instructions on circumstantial evidence are concerned, a variety of different circumstantial evidence charges have been recognized as proper throughout the course of South Carolina history. See State v. Lynch, 412 S.C. 156, 176-177, 771 S.E.2d 346, 357 (Ct. App. 2015) (outlining the different circumstantial evidence jury instructions that have been approved of in South Carolina over the years). In State v. Edwards, 298 S.C. 272, 275, 379 S.E.2d 888, 889 (1989), our Supreme Court adopted “reasonable hypothesis” language from an earlier appellate decision as the appropriate standard to be charged to juries in cases involving circumstantial evidence. See Littlejohn, 228 S.C. at 328, 89 S.E.2d at 926 (“[I]t is necessary that every circumstance relied upon by the state be proven beyond a reasonable doubt; and that all of the circumstances so proven be consistent with each other and, taken together, point conclusively to the guilt of the accused to the exclusion of every other reasonable hypothesis. It is not sufficient that they create a probability, though a strong one; and if, assuming them to be true, they may be accounted for upon any reasonable hypothesis which does not include the guilt of the accused, the proof has failed.”). Thereafter, in State v. Grippon, 327 S.C. 79, 83-84, 489 S.E.2d 462, 464 (1997), our Supreme Court determined a charge on the “reasonable hypothesis” language was unnecessary in cases in which the jury was properly instructed on reasonable doubt and further proposed the following circumstantial evidence charge for use in future cases:

There are two types of evidence which are generally presented during a trial—direct evidence and circumstantial evidence. Direct evidence is the testimony of a person who asserts or claims to have actual knowledge of a fact, such as an eyewitness. Circumstantial evidence is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances indicating the existence of a fact. The law makes absolutely no distinction between the weight or value to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence. Nor is a greater degree of certainty required of circumstantial evidence than of direct evidence. You should weigh all the evidence in the case. After weighing all the evidence, if you are not convinced of the guilt of the defendant

beyond a reasonable doubt, you must find [the defendant] not guilty.

Subsequently, in State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 597, 606 S.E.2d 475, 480 (2004), our Supreme Court determined the charge from “Grippon [was] the sole remaining charge to be utilized by the courts of [South Carolina] in instructing juries in cases relying, in whole or in part, on circumstantial evidence.” See also Holland v. United States, 348 U.S. 121, 139-140 (1954) (“The petitioners assail the refusal of the trial judge to instruct that where the Government’s evidence is circumstantial it must be such as to exclude every reasonable hypothesis other than that of guilt. There is some support for this type of instruction in the lower court decisions, . . . but the better rule is that where the jury is properly instructed on the standards for reasonable doubt, such an additional instruction on circumstantial evidence is confusing and incorrect[.]” (citations omitted)).

Most recently, in State v. Logan, 405 S.C. 83, 90, 747 S.E.2d 444, 448 (2013), our Supreme Court again considered an issue involving the propriety of a circumstantial evidence jury instruction. In that case, the Supreme Court affirmed Logan’s conviction after recognizing the continuing accuracy of the circumstantial evidence charge articulated in Grippon. Id. at 100, 747 S.E.2d at 452-453. However, the Supreme Court further articulated a new circumstantial evidence jury instruction and explained it “should” be given when requested by defense counsel in future cases:

There are two types of evidence which are generally presented during a trial—direct evidence and circumstantial evidence. Direct evidence directly proves the existence of a fact and does not require deduction. Circumstantial evidence is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances indicating the existence of a fact.

Crimes may be proven by circumstantial evidence. The law makes no distinction between the weight or value to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence, however, to the extent the State

relies on circumstantial evidence, all of the circumstances must be consistent with each other, and when taken together, point conclusively to the guilty of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt. If these circumstances merely portray the defendant's behavior as suspicious, the proof has failed.

The State has the burden of proving the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. This burden rests with the State regardless of whether the State relies on direct evidence, circumstantial evidence, or some combination of the two.

Id. at 99-100, 747 S.E.2d 452-453. Importantly though, despite articulating that new charge, the Supreme Court expressly recognized any error that occurs through the manner in which a jury is instructed on circumstantial evidence can nonetheless still be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt so long as the jury was properly instructed on the law as a whole, including in regard to the reasonable doubt standard. Id. at 94, n. 8, 747 S.E.2d at 449, n. 8.

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